ISSUE I

The Rules Regulating advertising are unconstitutionally vague and ambiguous. They fail to expressly define key terms such as "public service announcement" or "advertisement." The Rules lack the clear, objective and definate standards by which attorneys can judge whether their communications fall within the scope of Rules, and if so, what regulations are applicable.

The Respondent herein wrote his article as a "public service announcement" under Rule 4-7.2(n)(9). There was no indication that the term had any special meaning or limitation. In the absence of articulable, objective, and definate standards, the Bar could capricously and arbitrarily prosecute Respondent based on limitations it asserted applied, even though the limitations were not set forth in the Rules.

The effect of these vague Rules is that attorneys cannot tell what conduct is prohibited, the Bar can arbitrarily enforce the Rules, and the free speech rights of attorneys are chilled for fear of professional punishment. Such rules have been condemned and prohibited by the United States Supreme Court.

ISSUE II

The failure of the Rules to themselves contain articulable, objective standards make these Rules overbroad so as to intrude upon tradionally protected free speech. Since the rules fail to limit or define the scope of said rules, attorneys expressly their protected opinions are still subject to being prosecuted because some Bar staffer "feels" his article might "impliedly"

advertise his services.

The lack of standards allow arbitrary enforcement based on content. The criteria adopted by the Bar merely codifies the impermissible and subject criteria by which the Bar would like to censor the communications of attorneys.

ISSUE III

The Bar capricously and selectively enforced the Rules against Respondent. The Bar did not prosecute other attorneys with similar articles, going so far as to create new categories of non-regulated speech in order to protect from prosecution attorneys who are involved in Bar activities.

The Bar's selective prosecution of Respondent is based not on the merits of the case, but on the Bar's dislike of the content of Respondent's article and the refusal of Respondent to grovel before the Bar - all in violation of Respondent's due process and equal protection rights.

ISSUE IV

The Bar has no right under the Rules Regulating Advertising to adopt subtantive criteria. The Bar did. It violated this Court's exclusive power to amend the Rules. This tainted the prosecution herein and violated Respondent's due process rights.

ISSUE V

The Referee erred in denying the Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment. As agent for this Court under Rule 3-3.1, the Referee had power to declare a particular Rule unconstitutional.

ISSUE VI

There were insufficent facts herein for the Referee to find that the Respondent violated any Rule.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This appeal arises from the final order of a Referee in favor of the Florida Bar in a disciplinary action against Respondent. (Appendix B)

The Respondent is an attorney who practices in Winter Garden, Florida and who has been a member of the Florida Bar since 1981. (TT 20) After working for Michael Maher of Maher, Overchuck, and Langa, p.a. in Orlando, the Respondent went into practice for himself in 1983. (TT 60-61) Since that time, the Respondent has practiced primarily in the area of criminal defense work, including DUI defense. (TT21)

In the fall of 1991, the Respondent saw a public need for persons to know their rights if stopped for DUI. (TT 68) He had seen persons falsely accused of this charge because the persons did not know their rights when stopped by the officer. (TT 68))

The Respondent decided he would publish an article informing the public of their rights in this area. (TT67) Being aware of the Rules Regulating Advertising, the Respondent read them and sought to be in compliance therewith. (TT 69)

When the Respondent read that Rules, he saw Rule 4-7.2(n)(9) which allows an attorney to sponsor a "public service announcement." (TT 69) Looking through the Rules, this term was not used anywhere else, nor was it defined in the Rules. (TT69, 72-74) The Respondent did not know and was not on notice that the Florida Bar or anyone else interpreted this term other than it was commonly used. (TT 104)

The Respondent had seen "public service announcements" by

the law firm of Jacobs & Goodman, p.a., a personal injury firm. (TT 93) He had also seen phamplets put out by the Florida Bar. These phamplets would describe a person legal rights in certain circumstance or how to act in certain legal circumstances. On each phamplet was printed the statement "published as a public service to the consumers of the State of Florida." (TT 70) During discovery the Bar admitted that it had in fact printed a phamplet which specifically advised persons as to their rights when they were arrested. (RA 28) Respondent believed that so informing the public of their rights constituted a public service announcement. (TT 70)

Additionally, the Respondent had seen a lifetime of television announcments in which information helpful to the public, e.g. buckle up, speed kills, was labeled public service announcements or public service messages. (TT 69)

Based on these commonly seen examples of "public service" phamplets and announcements, the Respondent decided to publish his informative article as a public service announcement. (TT 105-105) He so wrote it in the belief that he was complying with the Rules. (TT 72) Evidence that Respondent was so writing his article is the letter to the <u>West Orange Times</u> 4 days after publication and weeks before any grievance was filed, in which he expressly stated he was trying to "comply with the Bar rules on public service announcement. (TT 24, 76, RTE 3)

The unrebutted fact is that the Respondent was not trying to advertise his legal services and did not recieve any business from it. (TT 74) The Respondent testified to this fact (TT 68, 74) and the Bar introduced no direct evidence to the contrary.

Further, the Respondent intentionally did not put into the article any information about his a) qualifications, b) type of expericence, c) length of experience, d) nature of practice, e) fees, f) availability to accept DUI cases. (TT 72) In fact the Respondent specifically included in his article the following:

> This document is provided as a public service to better educate the public as to their rights. It is not an advertisement of legal services and it should not be considered as such. (emphasis added).(TT 72)

The Respondent thus intentionally wrote his article in the form of a public service announcement. (TT 69, 74) He included his name and locational information as permitted under Rule 4-7.2(n)(9) and so that he could communicate with others concerning the ideological content of this article. (TT 75)

Respondent then published it in the <u>West Orange Times</u>, a small weekly paper in West Orange County. (TT 29) On December 19, 1991 and December 26, 1991 the public service announcement was published. (Appendix A) The Respondent does not have a big practice. (TT 62)) Each time he published it, he had to pay approximately \$190.00. (TT 23, 29) He could only afford to have it published twice.

Thereafter, Scott Frantel filed a grievance with the Florida Bar. (TT 24) He filed the grievance because he did not like the content. (FBTE 25) He thought it taught people how to be better drunk drivers.

Subsequent thereto, Respondent was contacted by the Florida Bar. After investigation, the Respondent was brought before the Grievance Committee where he was charged by the Bar with:

Rule 3-4.1 Failure to familiarize himself about the Rules;

- Rule 3-4.3 Engaging in conduct that is contrary to honesty and Justice;
- Rule 4-7.1 Making deceptive statements about himself and his services;
- Rule 4-7.2 Failure to file and include disclaimer;
- Rule 4-7.3 Running an ad with a potentially misleading statement therein;
- Rule 4-7.5 Failing to file copy of article with Bar; and
- Rule 4-8.4 Conduct involving dishonesty, fraud and mispresentation.

(Bar's Summary of Allegations to Grievance Committee, RTE 10) The Bar's position was that since the article concerned Respondent's area of practice, "it could not possible be a public service announcement." (TT 136)

Even after the grievance hearing, the Bar tried to pursue a claim of fraud against Respondent based on his having included a copyright symbol therein (which he lawfully could do).

The Grievance Committee found the Respondent not guilty of violating Rules 3-4.1 and 3-4.3. The Committee did find probable cause on the issues of not filing, not including a disclosure and that the "public service statement" could be misleading, Rules 4-7.2, Rule 4-7.3 and Rule 4-7.5.

Also, despite the fact that there was no evidence of any intentional misconduct, the Committee found probable cause on the intention fraud, and conduct involving dishonesty, fraud or misrepresentation. Rules 4-7.1, Rule 4-8.4.

At pre-trial hearings before the Referee, Bar counsel finally confessed the Bar had no evidence of fraulent conduct, and that the only true charge it could make was that the

article's statements about "public service announcement" would be impliedly misleading if the article were found to be an advertisement. (See Order dated January 3, 1993)

The Respondent subsequently filed a Motion for Summary Judgment asking the Referee in his capacity as agent for the Supreme Court to rule on the issue of vagueness. The Referee refused based on his alleged lack of authority to find a Rule promulgated by this Court to be unconstitutional.

The case went to trial before the Referee. The Bar conceded that a "public service announcement" under the Rules did not have to be filed or contain a disclosure therein. (TT 142) The Respondent and editor of the <u>West Orange Times</u> testified Respondent's wrote, paid for and published the articles herein. Additionally, the editor testified his papers' practice was to put "advertisement" on articles, not based on content, but to show the article had been paid for and not

In the instant case, the newspaper had done so to Respondent's article without his knowledge or permission. (TT 33-34) The Respondent had written to the paper immediately to complain, but the articles had already run. (FBTE 3)

Also testifying was Irl Marcus, a member of the Bar and former Assistant State Attorney. (TT 108-109) He felt the article served the public's interest. (TT 114-115) Mr. Marcus testified that he knew Respondent and that the publication of such an article for the public good would be "typical (TT116-117) Mr. Marcus testified that if Mr.

believed in something, he would take action, while lots of attorneys would talk, but take no actions. (TT 116-117)

Mr. Marcus then detailed how he and Mr. Ad been one of the initial persons to file a grievance against the Honorable Danial Perry, County Judge Orange County Florida for putting people (not Mr. Clients) in jail improperly. (TT 111) (Most charges made by Mr. Ave been substantiated by the J.Q.C. and are now pending before this Court for its review and imposition of punishment.)

Mr. Marcus confirmed that Respondent did not now accept cases in front of Judge Perry because of this JQC grievance and that it cost the Respondent over \$12,,000.00 to do so (TT 63), in addition to the hundreds of hours Respondent spent investigating for the J.Q.C. (TT112).

Further, Mr. The testified that he had acted on behalf of the City of Winter Garden in trying to prevent a reduction in the leval of legal services to the citizens of West Orange County. (TT 63) The Respondent testified that he had contributed his time for free to the City in order to help the citizens of West Orange and that he received no compensation for time or office expenses from the City. (TT 63-64)

After trial, the Referee found that the Respondent was guilty of failing to file his article, failing to include a disclosure therein, and that the reference to "public service annoucement" was impliedly misleading. (Appendix B) The order was based on the Referee's finding that the article could "impliedly" be interpreted to be an advertisement. From this, the Respondent timely appealed.

<u>ISSUE I</u>

WHETHER THE RULES REGULATING ADVERTISING ARE VAGUE AND AMBIGUOUS SO AS TO INFRINGE UPON ATTORNEYS' SECTION 4 AND FIRST AMENDMENT RIGHTS

"Judges shall accept no income, except where ______." Such a Rule would certainly be vague and leave both judges and the J.Q.C. guessing as to the type of income properly accepted. Yet, at least the presence of a blank gives notice to judges that there could be a problem with this Rule.

In contrast, the Rules Regulating Advertising are much worse. They do not contain blanks, but undefined terms which are equally vague. Thus, what appears to be a safe harbor in the Rules, is in fact a trap for the innocent attorney who seeks to comply therewith. That is what happened here.

The unrefuted evidence is that Respondent did not intend to advertise his legal services but sought merely to inform people of their rights if stopped for DUI. (TT 68) The Respondent carefully reviewed the Rules and correctly determined that a "public service announcement" under Rule 4-7.2(n)(9) would be exempt from the filing and disclosure requirements applicable to advertisements. The Florida Bar conceded at trial that was a correct interpretation of Rule 4-7.2(n)(9). (TT 142)

Thus, there is no dispute that the Rules Regulating Advertising exempt from filing and disclosure requirements a catagory of communications from attorneys to the public called "public service announcements." Respondent would then be entitled under Rule 4-7.2(n)(9) to list himself and georgraphic information as the "sponsor" thereof. Unquestionably,

Respondent sought to comply with this Rule relating to public service announcements as evidenced by the letter to the <u>West</u> <u>Orange Times</u> four days after publication, and weeks before any grievance was filed, in which Respondent expressly stated he was trying to do so. (FBTE 3)

What is a "public service announcement" under Rule 4-7.2(n)(9)? The Bar admits that even though it used this term, there is no express definition thereof in the Rules. (RA 2) While the Bar now claims that an attorney cannot write a public service announcement in the "area of his practice," or if it involves his "legal expertise" and that an attorney cannot "pay for" its publication, there is <u>not one word in the Rules</u> about any such limitation on the nature or dissemination of a public service announcement permitted under this Rule. There is nothing in the Rules to put Respondent on notice that this term had any meaning or limitation other than that commonly applied.

Thus, when Respondent looked to the Rules for guidance (as he is constitutionally permitted to do), all he found was the undefined and undelineated term "public service announcement." Respondent reasonably believed that this term meant the type of communications he had seen for years where information which could be of interest is presented to the public and called a public service message.

Additionally, the Respondent had seen phamplets produced by the Florida Bar. The Bar produces a series of phamplets informing the persons of their legal rights. (RA 23) On each appears the statement that this phamplet is printed as a "public service for consumers." (RA 25) [The Bar herein has even

confessed that it has published a "public service" phamplet which gives legal advice to readers <u>concerning their rights</u> if <u>arrested</u>. (RA 28)]

Since the Bar chose not to define "public service announcement" in the Rules, there was nothing to put Respondent on notice that "public service" phamplets of the nature disseminated by the Bar were not in fact "public service announcements" or that Respondent's attempt to duplicate same would not be a "public service announcement" under the Rules. To so interprete "public service announcement" certainly is consistent with common sense and with the many "public service messages" appearing on television which give advice to the general public.

If the Bar or this Court intended that "public service announcement" have any special limitation or meaning, they should have specifically, expressly and objectively defined that term in the Rules. The failure to do so, made the Rule vague and ambiguous. Hence, Respondent was mislead into publishing his article as a public service announcement under the belief it was a safe harbor, exempt from these requirements and prosecution.

Such sandbagging and prosecuting of persons after the fact is one danger of vague laws. A person does what the law apparently allows only to be prosecuted after the fact on criteria not even part of the rules, thus making persons guess as to whether their conduct is lawful.

The vagueness of the term "public service announcement" is best shown by the Bar's problems in determining what that term

meant. The Bar's very own staff (who would presumably be knowledgeable because they regularly deal with advertising) had to ask the Standing Committee on Advertising for "guidance:"

> Staff has recently received several filings that purport to be public service examples will be shown at announcements; Guidance is needed from the the meeting. Committee as to the criteria it wishes staff utilize in making the initial to determination whether a particular ad is a public service announcement.

(RTE 5, see Appendix C)

The Standing Committee on advertising thus found it necessary to adopt <u>criteria</u> defining what "public service announcement" meant some 14 months after the enactment of the Rules because even its own staff could not determine the definition of "public service announcement" from the Rules. See Committee minutes of March 4, 1992. (RTE 6, Appendix D)

The necessity of adopting criteria proves that with regard to the term "public service announcements" and these Rules:

a) That even the Standing Committee on Advertising found it necessary to supplement the language of the Rules to add criteria for the sake of clarity;

b) That at the time it wrote these Rules and chose to use the term "public service announcement," the Florida Bar did not itself have a clear and concise definition thereof even in mind, much less put it in the language of the Rules. (Otherwise, it would not have to be necessary to go back over a year later and vote on what that term meant and what criteria applied); and

c) That even the Florida Bar with all its resources and expertise could not find a commonly accepted meaning for the term it chose, and took over a year after the Rules went into effect to figure out what it meant when it wrote "public service announcement" in the Rules. (And the Bar wants to punish attorneys for not complying?)

Moreover, in answers to interrogatories and requests for admissions the Florida Bar stated over 30 times that the term

"public service announcement" is "undefined" or "undefined and ambiguous." The Florida Bar now claims it could not even respond to simply discovery because this undefined term was used by Respondent therein, yet it conversely claims that the same undefined term when used in the Rules is sufficiently definate to pass constitutional requirements. Are they kidding? If the term "public service announcement" is ambiguous to the Bar which wrote the Rules, that term is certainly ambiguous to the poor attorneys who are saddled with trying to abide by these Rules.

The unanswered question is why on earth did the Bar use this term in the Rules without defining it, if it intended the term to have a special meaning or limitations. Absent that, neither the Bar nor this Court should be punishing attorneys for failing to abide by rules containing such vague terms.

In regulating other subject matter, the Bar may get away with ad hoc interpretations which fill in the missing requirements of poorly drafted rules, <u>but that cannot be</u> <u>tolerated here</u>. The Bar has now wandered into an area of regulation in which attorneys have rights and rules must be clearly, objectively, and narrowly drawn. The Florida Constitution, as well as the federal constitution, require strict compliance by the Bar and this Court with the constitutional safeguards therein.

An attorney has a constitutional right to "speak, write and <u>publish his sentiments</u> on all subjects." Section 4, Article 1, Constitution of the State of Florida. See also the First Amendment to the United States Constitution. Attorneys do not lose these rights simply because they join the Florida Bar.

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