IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE OCT 19 1993

Chief Deputy Clerk

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Case No. 80,701 [TFB Case No. 92-31,167 (09B)]

v.

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 ATTORNEY NO. 123390

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 ATTORNEY NO. 217395

AND

JAN WICHROWSKI Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 880 North Orange Avenue Suite 200 Orlando, Florida 32801-1085 (407) 425-5424 ATTORNEY NO. 381586

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The respondent seeks to challenge the constitutionality of Rules of Professional Conduct, 4-7.2(d), which requires attorney ads to carry a specific disclaimer advising consumers not to base their choice of an attorney on only advertising, Rules 4-7.2(p), and 4-7.5(b) for failing to file his ad with the bar's standing committee on advertising, and 4-7.3(f) for providing misleading information in his advertisement. The bar submits the rules are in full compliance with the dictates of Bates v. State Bar of Arizona 433 U.S. 350, 97 S. Ct. 2691, 53 L. Ed. 2d 810 (1977), and its progeny. The rules are not prohibitionary in nature but rather require an attorney to include additional information and take an additional step in advertising legal services. The wording of the rules, when read in context, are sufficiently would understand the clear that reasonable attorney а requirements. Although the respondent attaches great importance "public service defining the terms "advertising" and to announcement", the bar's rules were drafted with recognition of the fact that labels assigned to items can be misleading. The rules apply to commercial speech, regardless of what it is called by the speaker. The rules then provide certain exemptions for filing and the disclaimer requirement only. Further, the rules are not overbroad because they are narrowly tailored to meet the bar's objective of protecting the public from potentially deceptive promotional tactics. The speech is not prohibited but

merely regulated in a reasonable manner. No "approval" is required to run an advertisement. Filing is required to be contemporaneous with the dissemination of the information.

The respondent also challenges the referee's findings of fact and recommendations. The findings were based on clear and convincing evidence and are supported by the record. The respondent has failed to show otherwise. The referee found no evidence the respondent was selectively prosecuted. The respondent's advertisement speaks for itself. It provides legal advice but does not provide any insight into the respondent's views on the topic.

The bar further submits the referee was correct in declining to address the constitutionality of the rules. Rule of Discipline 3-7.6(g)(2), as worded at the time of the final hearing in April, 1993, effectively precluded motions to dismiss on constitutional grounds. The referee acts as the fact finder and makes recommendations as to guilt and discipline to this court which acts as the final determiner of the case's outcome. Constitutional issues concerning rules are best left to the decision of this court.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE RULES REGARDING FILING ADVERTISEMENTS AND INCLUDING THE REQUIRED DISCLAIMER ARE CONSTITUTIONAL.

At the outset, the bar notes the respondent has failed to meet the burden imposed on all appellants in bar disciplinary proceedings of clearly showing that the referee's findings of fact are not supported by the evidence, The Florida Bar v. The referee found the bar Simring, 612 So. 2d 561 (Fla. 1993). and convincing evidence, that the had proved, by clear respondent's "article" was in fact an advertisement and as such should have included the required disclaimer and been filed with the standing committee on advertising (ROR-A-3-4). Never has the bar's position been that the respondent should not have published an advertisement informing persons about their legal rights, even if the position might be an unpopular one. The content is not an issue except to the extent that an item must be read, viewed, or listened to in order to determine if it is exempt from filing with the standing committee on advertising or if it contains any potentially misleading information. In fact, had the respondent filed standing committee his advertisement with the on advertising and included the disclaimer statement, there is no indication the staff would have recommended any changes other than deleting the phrase "A public service message sponsored by."

In other words, had the respondent complied with the rules, this matter would never had resulted in disciplinary proceedings. It was a member of the public who complained about the subject matter of the respondent's ad, not the bar (B-Ex.4).

All of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar touch on constitutional rights. The respondent enjoys no greater rights than any other attorney in a disciplinary proceeding. Constitutional rights must always be safequarded, although because lawyers and judges are members of a privileged profession, obedience to ethical rules may require abstention from what in other circumstances would be constitutionally protective behavior, American Civil Liberties Union of Fla., Inc. v. The Florida Bar, 744 Fed. Supp. 1094, 1097 (N.D. Fla. 1990). The rules are sufficiently clear here to put attorneys on notice that all forms of commercial speech are regulated, regardless of whether they are called advertisements, public service announcements, direct mail solicitation letters, letterheads, business cards, professional announcements, etc. The rules recognize that, as is so aptly demonstrated by the respondent's case, labels can be deceiving.

The rules at issue here are not prohibitionary, except as to communications which are deceptive. Rules of Professional Conduct 4-7.2(n) and 4-7.2(d) are exemptions, not prohibitions. Although the bar submits the respondent's advertisement tended to

mislead because he termed it a public service message, the content itself was not alleged to be false or deceptive. The bar charged him with violating Rule of Professional Conduct 4-7.1 only with respect to the statement which proclaims it to be a public service message and the referee recommended he be found not guilty in this regard (ROR-A-3). When section 4-7 is read in its entirety, it is clear that it applies to all attorney communications concerning services, regardless of how that information is provided or what the dissemination method is called. All such communications must be filed with the standing committee on advertising unless they contain no more information than that listed by Rule of Professional Conduct 4-7.2(n) or fall under the exemptions listed by Rule 4-7.5(c). Therefore, the rules do not prohibit the respondent from disseminating future "articles" similar the issue here, to one at or even disseminating the same article.

The rules merely seek to regulate commercial speech pursuant to Bates v. State Bar of Arizona, 433 U.S. 350, 97 S. Ct. 2691, 53 L. Ed. 2d 810 (1977). The United States Supreme Court found in Zauderer v. Office of Disciplinary Counsel, 471 U.S. 626, 105 s. Ct. 2265, 85 L. Ed. 2d 652 (1985), that disclosure requirements differed from prohibitionary rules. The court recognized that compulsory speech under can, certain circumstances, violate the first amendment. Although the disclosure requirements by the Ohio Bar operated to require

advertising attorneys to include more information than they might otherwise be inclined to include, this served the interests of the consumers. Because the extension of first amendment rights to commercial speech was principally justified by the value of such speech to consumers, the speaker's first amendment rights in not providing the required disclosure were minimal.

Although the respondent argues that he was merely airing his opinion through his article, a reading of it fails to reveal any statements concerning the respondent's opinions or views. Even if he had expressed his views, such statements in an attorney's advertisement are not commercial speech deserving first amendment protection, Bishop v. Commission of Professional Ethics, Etc., 521 F. Supp. 1219 (S.D. IA 1981). In Bishop, the court found that views are statements of subjective opinions and not verifiable facts. In the context of commercial advertising, they are promotional content with "substantial potential to mislead and to appeal to emotions, prejudices, or likes or dislikes of a person" (at page 1227). Even so, the bar's advertising rules do not seek to govern personal speech. The bar submits the respondent was not attempting to voice his opinion on the subject of DUI laws. His "article", contained in the appendix at page A-9, is clearly not a personal statement. It gives general legal advice concerning the rights of a person who may be charged with DUI and provides the respondent's name, office address and telephone number in bold faced type that is second in size only

to the title. The "article" advises the reader to save it for future reference. The bar submits this "article", regardless of what it is called, is commercial speech and as such is subjected to greater regulation than noncommercial speech. Under Bates, supra, the United States Supreme Court suggested that time, place and manner restrictions are acceptable for commercial speech because such speech is accorded limited first amendment protection. The restrictions, however, must not be content based, must serve a significant governmental interest, and leave open other channels of communication through which to express the information being restricted, Virginia State Board of Pharmecy v. Virginia Citizens Consumer Council, Inc., 425 U.S. 748, 96 S. Ct. 1817, 48 L. Ed. 2d 346 (1976). The Rules Regulating The Florida Bar are in full compliance with these standards.

A four-pronged test has been developed for addressing the constitutionality of a restriction on commercial speech: 1) is the expression protected by the first amendment (is it commercial speech that is not misleading or involves unlawful activity); 2) is the asserted governmental interest substantial; 3) does the regulation directly advance the governmental interest; 4) is the regulation no more extensive that is necessary to serve that interest, <u>Board of Trustees of State Univ. of N.Y. v. Fox</u>, 492 U.S. 469, 109 S. Ct. 3028, 106 L. Ed. 2d 388 (1989). The respondent's "article" is clearly commercial speech, which has been defined as an expression related solely to the economic

interests of the speaker and its audience in that it serves the economic interests of the speaker, assists consumers and further societal interests, <u>Bishop</u>, <u>supra</u>, at page 1222. Further, a communication can constitute commercial speech even if it contains discussions of important public issues, <u>Board of</u> <u>Trustees of State Univ. of N.Y.</u>, supra.

The respondent's "article" provides legal advice concerning the area of law in which he concentrates his practice. It does not provide his opinion nor does it concern a nonlaw related activity such as "installing smoke detectors". The respondent provides information which would be of particular interest to persons charged with driving while under the influence or persons with a history of such an offense and includes his professional address and telephone number. Nowhere does the respondent discuss his concerns about the constitutionality of the laws or their enforcement.

The bar has a substantial interest in regulating commercial speech by attorneys to ensure protection of the public from deceptive communications. Lawyers act as self-employed businessmen, the trusted agents of their clients, and officers of the court, <u>Ohralik v. Ohio State Bar Assoc.</u>, 436 U.S. 447, 98 S. Ct. 1912, 56 L. Ed. 2d 444 (1978). The bar has a substantial interest in protecting consumers, regulating commercial transactions and maintaining standards among licensed attorneys

given their unique positions as officers of the court, <u>Ohralik</u>, <u>supra</u>.

The bar's rules requiring the inclusion of a disclaimer and filing with the standing committee on advertising advance the bar's regulatory interests and are no more extensive than necessary to achieve the desired objectives. The rules are not prohibitionary in nature but rather require advertising attorneys to include additional information and take an additional step in communicating legal services information to the general public, all of whom are prospective clients. The use of regulations that are not more extensive than necessary does not mean the bar must use the least restrictive means available. The requirement is that the regulation be narrowly tailored, which does not require the elimination of all less restrictive alternatives. What is required is a fit between the government's ends and its means that is reasonable, not perfect, Board of Trustees of State Univ. of N.Y. Supra.

The bar submits Rules 4-7.2(d) and 4-7.2(p) satisfy this requirement and therefore are not overbroad. In any event, application of the overbreadth doctrine in commercial speech cases it weak because advertising, being linked to the speaker's commercial well-being, is not susceptible to being crushed by overbroad regulations, Bates, supra.

The respondent makes much of the lack of a definitional section in the rules. The respondent believes the bar should define the terms "advertising" and "public service announcement". According to the respondent, this causes the rules to be so vague and ambiguous as to render them an unconstitutional infringement on his first amendment right to free speech. The bar submits the respondent's argument, given the language of the rules and the language of his "article", is without merit.

In analyzing commercial speech regulations, the United States Supreme Court has followed the "common sense" doctrine to distinguish between commercial and other types of speech, Zauderer, supra. The court recognized that the boundaries Further, all between the two are not precise. statutory language, no matter how precisely worded, is subject to attack on grounds of vagueness because "[w]ords" inevitably contain germs of uncertainty," Broadrick v. Oklahoma, 413 U.S. 600, 93 S. Ct. 2908, 37 L. Ed. 2d 830 (1973). The court found that a statute is not impermissibly vague so long as it is set out in terms that an ordinary person exercising ordinary common sense can sufficiently understand and comply without sacrifice to the public interest. There will always be cases where it will be difficult to make a determination as to which side of the line a particular fact This, however, is not sufficient justification situation falls. to hold the language too vague to define an offense, State v. Dye, 346 So. 2d 538 (Fla. 1977), quoting Roth v. U.S., 354 U.S.

476, 77 S. Ct. 1304, 1 L. Ed. 2d 1498 (Fla. 1957).

The respondent ignores the fact that part of the rule about which he complains, Rule 4-7.5(b) requires him to file the ad with the advertising department of The Florida Bar in order to get the definition he seeks. He could have appealed any unfavorable recommendation to the standing committee on advertising contemporaneous with publishing the "article".

The standing committee on advertising considered the term "public service announcement" at a March, 1992, meeting (R-Ex. No changes were made to the rule itself. The committee's 6). opinion was for administrative purposes only. The criteria developed by the committee are used by staff attorneys to help pinpoint lawyers who are trying to circumvent the rules. The committee sets policies for its staff attorneys to follow, and did so the this instance. It is analogous to the ethics committee which considers issues referred to it by the ethics department and thus interprets the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar in issuing its formal opinions. Opinions of neither committee are binding. They are merely persuasive. However, the policies set forth by such committees are followed by the bar in prosecuting cases. Enforcement is not left up to individual discretion.

Although the respondent makes much of the bar's answers to his intecrogatories and requests for admission where the bar stated the term "public service announcement" was undefined and

ambiguous, the respondent takes these answers out of context. The bar's answers were based on the respondent's self-serving use of the term in discovery.

A fundamental principle of statutory construction is that an enactment should be interpreted in favor of its constitutionality, so long as the interpretation is consistent with constitutional rights, <u>Falco v. State</u>, 407 So. 2d 203 (Fla. 1981). The courts also must not vary legislative intent with respect to the meaning of a statute in order to achieve this result, State_v. Keaton, 371 So. 2d 86 (Fla. 1979).

The bar submits that Rules of Professional Conduct 4-7.2(d) and 4-7.2(p) should be interpreted in favor of their constitutionality. They do not impede any of the respondent's constitutional rights and are consistent with the intent of this court to regulate attorney advertising in a manner that protects the public from deception while not infringing on the first amendment rights of the advertisers.

Although the respondent compares his "article" to informational pamphlets published by the bar and Greater Orlando Area Legal Services (GOALS), the comparison is incorrect. The respondent cited these pamphlets as examples of public service announcements, even though neither the bar nor GOALS has ever described them as such. They are merely informational pamphlets

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